United States Government
Federal Communications Commission
Consumer & Governmental Affairs Bureau
Disability Rights Office RECEIVED
445 12" Street, SW FEB 1 02009
Washington, D.C. 20554

THCLP'!AS C. GRIESDORN

OFFICIAL

NOTICE OF INFORMAL COMPLAINT

i ; February 9, 2009
In Reply Refer To: C00079066-FC

WBNS-TV ()

TII-]E COMPANY IDENTIFIED IN THE ATTACHED COMPLAINT IS REQUIRED TO RESPOND
TO THIS NOTICE OF INFORMAL COMPLAINT WITHIN 15 DAYS OF THE DATE OF THIS

NOTICE. Failure of any person to answer any lawful Commission inquiry is considered a
misdemeanor punishable by a fine under Section 409(m) of the Communications Act (Act), 47 U.S.C. §
409(m). Further, failure to comply with any order of the Commission can result in prosecution under
Section 401(b) of the Act, 47 U.S.C. § 401(b). Section 501 of the Act, 47 U.S.C. § 501, and Section
503(b)(1)(B) of the Act, 47 U.S.C. § 503(b)(1)(B), provide for forfeiture penalties against any person
who willfully fails to follow the directives of the Act or of a Commission order. The Commission can
impose forfeiture penalties of up to $1.2 million for certain types of violations.

The attached complaint was filed with the Commission pursuant to Section 713 of the Act, 47 U.S.C. § 613,
and Section 79.1 of the Commission's Rules, 47 C.F.R. § 79.1. A letter acknowledging your company's
receipt of this Notice and of the enclosed complaint should be sent to each consumer Complainant as soon as
your company receives this Notice. Pursuant to Sections 713 and 4(i) of the Act, 47 U.S.C. §§ 613, 154(1),
and Section 79.1(g) of the Commission's Rules, 47 C.F.R. § 79.1(g), we are forwarding a copy of the
complaint so that your company may satisfy or answer the complaint based on a thorough review of all
relevant records and other information. Your company should respond specifically to all material allegations
raised in each complaint and summarize the actions taken by your company to satisfy the complaint.

Your response should include: (1) the Complainant's name, and (2) the Case number. For hand
deliveries, the Commission's contractor, Natek, Inc., will receive hand-delivered or messenger-delivered
paper filings for the Commission's Secretary at 236 Massachusetts Avenue, NE, Suite 110, Washington, D.C.
20002. The filing hours at this location are 8:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., Monday-Friday. All hand deliveries must
be held together with rubber bands or fasteners. Any envelopes must be disposed of before entering the
building. Commercial overnight mail (other than U.S. Postal Service Express Mail and Priority Mail) must be
sent to 9300 East Hampton Drive, Capitol Heights, MD 20743. U.S. Postal Service first-class mail, Express
Mail, and Priority Mail should be addressed to 445 12th Street, SW, Washington, D.C. 20554.

Due to heightened security measures undertaken in Washington, D.C., and at this agency, you should also
send an electronic copy of the response letter to Cheryl.King@fcc.gov. Companies are directed to send copies
of their responses to consumers at the same time their responses are forwarded to the Commission. Each
company required to respond to this Notice is directed to retain all records until final Commission disposition
of the complaints. If you have any questions regarding this Notice, please call or email Francine Crawford
at (202) 418-2085 or Francine.crawford@fcc.gov, and leave a detailed message specifying the calling
company name, the Case number, and the specific questions that you would like to have answered.

in@ﬁell)uty Chief

Disability Rights Office/CGB

Attachment(s)
K:613/79.1
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February 24, 2009

BY E-MAIL AND HAND DELIVERY

Cheryl I. King, Deputy Chief
Disability Rights Office
Consumer & Governmental Affairs Bureau

Federal Communications Commission
445 12th St., S.W.

Washington, D.C. 20554

Re:  Informal Complaint No. C00079066-FC
BiendaDaiis

Dear Ms. -

WBNS-TV, Inc., licensee of WBNS-TV, Columbus, Ohio (“WBNS?” or the “Station

73),
hereby responds to the Notice of Informal Complaint i“NOIC”) from your office dated February 9,

2009. The NOIC encloses a complaint from Ms.

of W, Ohio. Your letter asks
that we respond to Ms. (il complaint,

In her complaint, Ms. YR expresses concerns about closed cap
WBNS’s broadcasts. Specifically, she notes that (1)
inform them that the feed for the presidential feed was not showing”; (2) “a instert [sic] from the
ohio news network” was not captioned; (3) “the weather at noon also has no cc¢”: and (4) the
Station’s noon newscast lacked captioning.'

tioning in four aspects of
“I first contaacted [sic] the station nov Sthto

At WBNS, we take serious]

y our obligation to ensure that our programming is accessible to
viewers with hearing Impairments,

and we appreciate the opportunity to respond to Ms. (R

! Based on an email from Ms. Rt the Station, WBNS underst
complaint relates to the November 5, 2008 newscast. Ms. N -
watch and advisory was not close captioned.”

ands that this aspect of the

Iso asserts that a “winter storm
The Station is unable to respond to this aspect of the
to which this allegation refers. The Station did not

770 Twin Rivers Drive - RO. Box {1010 - Columbus, OH 43215-1010 - (614) 460-3700 - Fax (614) 460-2814
A Dispatch Brpadcast Group Station - An Equal Opportunity Employer



WBNS-TV, Columbus, Ohio

Informal Complaint No. C00079066-FC
February 24, 2009

Page 2

concerns. In this letter, we address in order each of the issues raised in Ms. -correspondence.
We also describe our ongoing efforts to ensure high-quality captioning service for our viewers.

1. The Presidential Address Was Captioned

Ms. -complaint states that she was unable to receive the captioning of a “presidential
speech.” During the November 4-5, 2008 period, WBNS broadcast a speech by President Bush from
the White House on November 5, 2008, which began at approximately 10:40 a.m. In addition, we
broadcast then-President-elect Obama’s victory speech on the evening of November 4,2008.

WBNS records the signal that we broadcast from our transmitter, and we keep archives of
those recordings for a limited period of time. Upon receiving Ms. — email, we reviewed the
recording of both speeches. With respect to both, we confirmed that WBNS passed through the real-
time captioning provided to the Station by the CBS Television Network.

2. WBNS’s ONN Promotions Are Exempt From Captioning Requirements

Ms. B states that WBNS is “showing the news with a instert [sic] from the ohio news
network that never has cc on it.” On some newscasts, WBNS broadcasts a one-minute promotional
clip provided by the Ohio News Network (“ONN™), a cable news channel owned by WBNS’s parent
company that is devoted exclusively to Ohio news. In these occasional broadcasts, an ONN on-air
personality announces news items from around Qhio that are being covered on ONN in an effort to
encourage viewers to watch ONN’s programming. During each promotional announcement, the
ONN personality identifies ONN as the source of the news and typically suggests that other news
items are available on ONN’s cable channel. “ oo :

E i

Under Section 79.1(d)(6) of the Commission’s rules, 47 C.F.R. § 79.1(d)(6), closed
captioning is not required for “finterstitial material, promotional announcements, and public service
announcements that are 10 minutes or less in duration.” As the Commission noted when it adopted
that rule, “the large number of such programs, the brief period from their creation to airing, and their
short shelf life make captioning these programs expensive and logistically difficult.”® For this
reason, “the cost of captioning this material and the resulting logistical problems would appear to be
disproportionate to any benefits received.” Because they last for approximately one minute and
exist exclusively to promote the news stories covered on ONN, the ONN promotional
announcements are exempt from the Commission’s captioning requirement.

&
%

2 Closed Captioning and Video Description of Video Prog:ramm‘z'ng, 13 FCC Red. 3272, 151
(1997).
I
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3. WBNS’s Unscripted Noon Weather Reports Are Exempt From Captigning:Reguirements

As Ms. §llBnotes, the unscripted weather forecast in the Station’s noon newscasts
routinely is not closed captioned, as permitted by Section 79.1(e)(3) of the Commission’s rules, 47
C.F.R. § 79.1(e)(3). That provision allows stations outside of the top 25-ranked Nielsen Media
Research designated market areas (“DMAs™) to caption “[I]ive programming or repeats of
programming originally transmitted live” using the “electronic newsroom technique.” WBNS is
located in the Columbus, Ohio DMA, the 32nd-ranked television market in the country.

Through the electronic newsroom technique, WBNS “uses computer software to create
closed captions from the text in [the] station’s news script computer. Only text transmitted from the
scripting computers onto the teleprompter is captioned by this method. Thys, the electronic
newsroom technique does not provide captions for unscripted materidl, such as breaking news, live
reports from the field, and some weather and sports reports.”™

Although the Commission’s rules have long allowed us to use less-expensive electronic
newsroom captioning for our newscasts, the Station historically used real-time captioning for every
newscast. Because of financial pressures, however, we have made the difficult decision to
discontinue real-time captioning for our less frequently watched newscasts, which air at 5 am.,
noon, and 5 p.m. WBNS continues to provide real-time captioning for our most heavily-viewed
newscasts airing at 6 a.m., 6 p.m., and 11 p-m.

For the WBNS newscasts that use the electronic newsroom technique, unscripted portions of
the presentation, such as our weather forecasts, are not captioned. However, WBNS uses a variety
of visual tools to ensure that weather information in these electronic NeWsroom newscasts is
available to viewers with hearing impairments.® For example, the Station uses a combination of
open textual crawls, color-coded weather maps, and full-screen slates listing key information to
provide weather details to viewers who cannot hear the broadcast.

4. WBNS’s Captioning Policy Was Not Followed During Its November 5 Noon Newscast

As explained above, WBNS recently switched from real-time captioning of the noon
newscast to electronic newsroom technique captioning. Because we continue to offer real-time
captioning in other newscasts, this change requires production personnel to activate electronic
NEewsroom captioning prior to each noon broadcast. Station management notified the relevant staff
of the need to take this step, and our noon newscasts are routinely captioned. However, our

4 Fact Sheet, “Accessibility of Emergency Video Programming to Persons With Hearing
Disabilities,” 16 FCC Red. 153 50, 15353 (2001).

> WBNS has additional policies that apply to broadcasts that include emergency weather
information,
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Informal Complaint No. C00079066-FC
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investigation of Ms. - email revealed that, on November 5 > 2008, the noon newscast did not
include electronic newsroom captioning. We discovered that this problem was due to human error.

Based on Ms. IR correspondence with us — and prior to receiving notice of Ms. SR
FCC complaint ~ we took several steps to enhance the procedures that our staff follow surrounding
closed captioning. First, we communicated in person and in writing with the directors of our
newscasts, alerting them to the error and reiterating the necessity of ensuring that the closed
captioning system is functioning during every newscast. Second, we ensured that the steps required
to enable electronic newsroom captioning are included on the pre-broadcast control room checklist
followed by our technical staff. Third, we have posted the procedures necessary to reestablish |
captioning in the event of any interruption so that all of our technical staff will be able to address |
captioning issues on an immediate basis. Fourth, we have reminded our directors, producers, and |
master control operators of their responsibility to carefully observe closed-caption enabled monitors
that have been placed in the master control room, the production control room, and at the producer’s
station. Finally, we have alerted each of our directors that we will hold them personally responsible
for compliance with our closed captioning obligations during the newscasts they direct and that they
may face consequences, potentially including termination, for any failure to comply with our closed
captioning procedures. We believe that these additional steps will provide important safeguards to
ensure that all of our newscasts, whether real-time captioned or captioned through the electronic
newsroom technique, will remain accessible to all of our viewers.

* * ®

WBNS is committed to ensuring that our broadcasts meet the needs of all of our viewers,
including viewers with hearing impairments. Upon leamning of Ms. B concermns, we
immediately took steps to investigate the issues that she raised. With respect to three of the four

Davis because of human error. As a result, we have taken additional steps to enhance and enforce
our captioning policies so that we can be confident that appropriate captioning is always provided

with respect to our programming and that we continue to serve our viewers in full compliance with
the Commission’s rules.

Sincerely,

5,70“ .

Tom Grizsdorn
President & General Manager

cc: Ms. ([N



February 13, 2009

Re: Notice of Informal Complaint - FCC No. C00079066-FC

Dear Ms. [l:

WBNS-TV, Inc. (“WBNS”), licensee of WBNS-TV, Columbus, Ohio, has recently
received the above-referenced notice of informal complaint, dated February 9, 2009, regarding
WBNS’s provision of closed captioning during certain news broadcasts. WBNS takes very
seriously its obligations to provide closed captioning and will respond to the Informal Complaint

shortly. WBNS will provide you with a copy of the station’s response when it is filed with the
FCC.

Sincerely,
Tom Gries

President & General Manager
WBNS/Ohio News Network

Gt Francine Crawford , FCC (via e-mail)
Cheryl King, FCC (via e-mail)

770 Twin Rivers Drive - PO. Box 1010 - Columbus, OH 43215-1010 - (614) 460-3700 - Fax (614) 460-2814
A Dispatch Broadcast Group Station - An Equal Opportunity Employer




